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ROBERT M. FUSFELD

ELIZABETH ESPINOSA KRUPA
Securities and Exchange Commission
1801 California Street, Suite 1500
Denver, Coloradoe 80202

Telephone: (303} 844-1000
Facsimile: (303) 844-1068

THOMAS A. ZACCARO (Ca. Bar No. 183241}
Securities and Exchange Commission
5670 Wilshire Boulevard, 11 Floor
Los Angeleg, California 50036-3648
Telephone: (323} 965-3812

Attorneys for United States
Securities and Exchange Commission

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSICN,
Plaintiff,

V.

BRIAN LEE (AKA BRIAN LEE PETROSIAN),

TODD DIROBERTOC,

LONNIE DRAGON AND

TREVOR WATSON,

Defendants.

Docket Number:

W EVY957

COMPLAINT

0o ()

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) for

its complaint alleges as follows:

I. SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

1. From November 1998 through March 2000,

Defendants Brian

Lee, Todd DiRoberto and Trevor Watson raised approximately $5

million in an unregistered, non-exempt offering of stock for

1
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7zandria Entertainment Networks, Inc. (“ZEN”), a privately held
company that purported to be developing two Internet web sites
dedicated to youth culture, music, film, sports and cloth%ng.

2. The ZEN offering was fraudulent because the offering
materials listed Watson as the company’s chief executive officer
(*CEO”) and sole director but failed to disclose that Lee and
DiRoberto, both convicted felons, were ZEN’'s majority owners and
actual control persons. The ZEN offering also was fraudulent
because the offering materials failed to disclose that Lee and
DiRoberto kept as commissions and other fees approximately $2.1
million, or 42 percent of the funds raised.

3. In a second offering fraud beéween approximately June
2000 and September 2000, Defendants Lee, Dragon and Watson raised
approximately $887,503 in an unregistered, non-exempt offering of
stock for LevelRed Investments, Inc., a privately held company
that purported to be to investing its net offering proceeds in a
subsidiary of ZEN’s successor corporation, Zandria Corp.

4. The LevelRed Investments offering was fraudulent because
the offering materials failed to disclose, among other things,
that convicted felons Lee and DiRoberto still owned a majority of
the stock and controlled Zandria and LevelRed.com. LevelRed
Investments offering was also fraudulent because the offering
materials failed to disclose that Lee and Dragon kept
approximately $297,503, or 45 percent of the funds raised as

commissions and other fees.
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' .

5. In offering and selling ZEN and LevelRed Investments
stock for the accounts of others, Lee, DiRoberto and Dragon also
violated the broker registration provisions of the federal
securities laws.

6. Defendants Lee, DiRoberto and Dragon have, directly and
indirectly, engaged in, and unless restrained and enjoined by this
Court will engage in, transactions, acts, practices, and courses
of business that violate Sections 5(a), S5(c) and 17(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a),
77e{c) and 77q(a})] and Sections 10({(b) and 15(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 783 (b) and 15
U.S.C. § 780(a)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-
5].

7. Defendant Watson has, directly and indirectly, engaged
in, and unless restrained and enjoined by this Court wili engage
in, transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business that
violate Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act [15
U.S5.C. §8§8 77e(a), 77e(c) and 77g(a)] and Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78j(b}] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17
C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

8. The Commissicon brings this action pursuant to the
authority conferred upon it by Section 20 of the Securities Act
[15 U.8.C. § 77t] and Section 21(d) and (e) of the Exchange Act

[15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d) and (e)] for an order permanently
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! . .

restraining and enjeining Defendants and granting other equitable

relief.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to

Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77uf{a)] and
Sections 21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78ul(e}
and 78aa].

10. In connection with the transactions, acts, practices,

and courses of business described in this Complaint, each of the
defendants, directly and indirectly, has made use of the means or

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, and/or of

the means and instruments of transportation or communication in
interstate commerce.

11. Venue lieg in this Court pursuant to Section 22{a) of
the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77uf(a)] and Section 27 of the
Exchange Act [15 U.8.C. § 78aal.

12. All of the defendants reside within this judicial
district. The principal place of business of ZEN, Zandria,
LevelRed.com and LevelRed Investments were each within this
judicial district. Additionally, certain of the transactions,
acts, practices and courses of business constituting the
viclations of law alleged herein occurred within this judicial
district.

III. DEFENDANTS
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! . .

13. Brian Lee (aka Brian Lee Petrosian) is a resident of San
Diego, California. At times relevant to the Commission’s
Complaint, Lee co-owned both First Choice Precductions, Inc. (dba
First Choice Financial) and Monte Christo, Inc. Lee is the sole
owner of Web Design, Inc. {(dba Venture Tech Funding Group). In
1993, Lee was convicted of conspiracy to distribute narcotics and
served approximately one year in prison. In July 2003, Lee
gsigned a plea agreement with the United States Attorney’s Office,
Southern District of California wherein he agreed to plead guilty
to one count of tax fraud relating to his mischaracterization of
ZEN and/or LevelRed Investments offering proceeds as insurance
premiums paid to an offshore insurance company that Lee
controlled. Lee has never been registered with the Commission as
a broker or dealer or associated with a registered broker or
dealer.

14, Todd DiRoberto is a resident of San Diego, California.
At times relevant to the Commission’s Complaint, DiRoberto co-
owned both First Choice Productions, Inc. (dba First Choice
Financial) and Monte Christo, Inc. From approximately January
2000 through June 2003, DiRoberto was incarcerated in the Federal
Correctional Institution at La Tuna, Texas following a 1999
conviction for conspiracy to distribute narcotics. DiRoberto has
never been registered with the Commission as a broker or dealer

or associated with a registered broker or dealer.
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15. Lonnie Dragon is a resident of San Diego, California.

At times relevant to the Commission’s Complaint, Dragon co-owned
First Choice. In approximately May 2000, Dragon formed and
beéame the sole owner of Technology Ventures Group, Inc. Dragon
has never been registered with the Commissicn as a broker or
dealer or associated with a registered broker or dealer.

16. Trevor Watson 1is a British citizen and a full-time
resident of San Diego, California. Watson served as the CEO and
the sole director or ZEN and LevelRed Investments during their
respective offerings and served on Zandria’s board of directors
from approximately April 2000 through November 2000. Watson has
never been registered with the Commission as a broker-dealer.

IV. RELATED PARTIES

17. Zandria Corp. is a Nevada corporation, and its principal
place of business was formerly in San Diego, California. Zandria
was formed when public shell Longhorn, Inc. purchased the assets
of ZEN, a privately held Florida corporation and the company
changed its name to Zandria. From approximately January 2000
through November 2000, Zandria conducted daily operations through
its wholly owned subsidiary, LevelRed.com, Inc. On February 18,}
2003, the United States Bankruptcy Court, Southern District of
California granted the petition of three creditors to place
Zandria in involuntary bankruptcy.

18. LevelRed Investments, Inc. was a California corporation

with its principal place of business in San Diego, California.
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LevelRed Investments is defunct and its status as a corporation
has been suspended by the state of California.

19. First Choice Productions, Inc. {(dba First Choice
Financial), was a California corporation with its principal place
of business in La Jolla, California. First Choice was initially
co-owned by Lee and DiRoberto and later by Lee and Dragon. Lee
and DiRoberto offered and sold ZEN stock doing business as First
Choice. First Choice is defunct and its status as a corporatiocn
has been suspended by the state of California.

20. Web Design, Inc. (dba Venture Tech Funding Group
(“VWIFG”)}, a Nevada corporation with its principal place of
business in La Jolla, California, is solely owned by Lee. Lee
offered and sgold LevelRed Investments stock doing business as
VTFG.

21. Technology Ventures Group, Inc. (“*TVG”), was a
California corporation with its principal place of business in La
Jolla, California, owned solely by Dragon. Dragon offered and
sold LevelRed Investments stock doing business as TVG. TVG is
defunct and its status as a corporation has been suspended by the
state of California.

22. Advanced Web Technologies, Inc. (dba Sunset Consulting,
Inc.), was a Nevada corporation with its principal place of
business in La Jolla, California, owned by Lee and DiRoberto.
Although Advanced Web Technologies purported to be in the

business of Internet web design and programming, in reality it
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was a shell company used by Lee and DiRoberto to disguise
commissions and other fees received in the ZEN and LevelRed
Investments offerings. Advanced Web Technologies is defunct and
its status as a corporation has been suspended by the state of
Nevada.

23. Monte Christo, Inc., was a Nevada corporation with its
principal place of business in La Jolla, California, owned by Lee
and DiRoberto. Monte Christo was a holding company through which
Lee and DiRoberto purchased their majority interest in ZEN.
Monte Christo is defunct and its status as a corporation has been
suspended by the state of Nevada.

24, B. Roland Frasier, III, is a resident of Rancho Santa
Fe, California. Frasier was formerly a partner in the San Diego
law firm Gage, Frasier & Teeple LLP. Frasier is licensed to
practice law in California and served as counsel to First Choice,
Monte Christo, ZEN, Zandria, LevelRed Investments, DiRoberto and
Dragon.

V. FACTS

A. The ZEN Offering Fraud

Lee And DiRoberto Acquired ZEN

25. Lee and DiRoberto co-owned Monte Christo, Inc., a
holding company. In approximately November 1998, through Monte
Christo, Inc., Lee and DiRoberto acquired 4.2 million shares, or
eighty-five percent of the 5 million total outstanding shares of

ZEN, a privately held company that purported to be developing two
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Internet web sites, Z-LandFilm.com and Z-LandMusic.com, where
users could download film clips and music samples.

26. At the time Lee and DiRoberto purchased their majority
interest, ZEN had no employees or significant assets.

27. In approximately February 1999, Lee and DiRoberto
installed Watson as ZEN’'s CEO and sole director.

| 28. In approximately August 1999, Lee and DiRoberto

purchased the rights to the Internet URL for LevelRed.com. Lee
and DiRoberto then changed the business plan for ZEN to develop a
single web site, LevelRed.com, dedicated to youth culture, music,
film, sports and clothing.

Lee, DiRoberto & Watson Drafted, Reviewed And Approved

The ZEN Offering Materials

29. Lee and DiRcberto drafted, reviewed and approved for
dissemination to investors and potential investors the ZEN
offering materials.

30. The ZEN offering materials fraudulently listed Watson as
ZEN's sole officer and director. Watson reviewed and approved

the portions of the ZEN offering materials that listed him as

ZEN's sole officer and director, in control of all ZEN
activities, including financial obligations.

Lee, DiRobertc & Watson Offered & Sold ZEN Stock

31. Lee and DiRoberto offered and sold ZEN stock through the

telemarketing company that they co-owned, First Choice
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Productions, Inc. The ZEN offering purported to be a private
placement of 1 million shares of stock at $5 per share.

32. Lee and DiRoberto paid themselves commissions based upon
a percentage of ZEN stock sold to investors. Lee and DiRoberto
purchased lead lists of potential investors and cold-called them
to scolicit them to buy ZEN stock.

33. Also, from approximately January 1989 through March
2000, Lee and DiRoberto hired approximately a dozen sales agents
to assist them in offering and selling ZEN stock from First
Choice’s offices in La Jolla. Lee and DiRoberto designed and
implemented a plan to sell ZEN stock in which they provided sales
agents with lead lists, talking points and offering materials.
Lee and DiRoberto paid the sales agents commissions based upon a
percentage of funds received from ZEN investors and the agents’
role in the sale.

34. Lee, DiRoberto and the sales agents that worked at their
direction used high-pressure sales tactics to sell ZEN stock.
When prospective investors expressed interest in purchasing ZEN
stock, Lee and DiRoberto caused ZEN offering materials and other
promotional information to be mailed to them.

35. From approximately November 1998 through April 1999, ZEN
investors sent their checks to purchase ZEN stock directly to
First Choice or Monte Christo, which were co-owned by Lee and
DiRoberto. Lee and DiRoberto deposited ZEN investors’ funds in

First Choice bank accounts and forwarded a portion of the funds

10
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to ZEN. Beginning in approximately May 1999, ZEN investors -sent
their checks to purchase ZEN stock directly to the company, where
Watson deposited the funds in ZEN bank accounts.

The ZEN Offering Waa Not Registered and Failed To

Qualify For Any Exemption From Registration

36. Between November 1998 and March 2000, Lee, DiRoberto and
Watson offered and sold approximately $5 million in ZEN stock to
more than 250 investors nationwide. Lee, DiRoberto and Watson
used the mails or other interstate means to offer and sell ZEN
stock. None of these transactions were registered with the
Commission.

37. The ZEN offering materials sent to investors did not
include audited financial statements for the company or any of
the detailed financial information typically found in a
registration statement.

The ZEN Offering Was Fraudulent

38. The ZEN offering materials fraudulently cconcealed Lee
and DiRoberto’s majority ownership of the company and their roles
as its actual controlling officers and directors. For example,
the ZEN offering materials represented that VITFG owned 65 percent
of the company. However, the ZEN offering materials failed to
disclose that VIFG was a fictitious business name for Mornte
Christo, co-owned by Lee and DiRoberto.

39. The ZEN offering materials failed to disclose that Lee

and DiRoberto, both convicted felons, owned a majority interest

11
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in ZEN and controlled the company’s management. Instead, the ZEN
offering materials represented that Watson was ZEN’s scle officer
and director and that Watson “oversees all areas of company
operations and company departments and approves all financial
obligations.” This statement was materially false.

40. Lee and DiRoberto served as ZEN’s actual officers and
directors and made all significant financial and managerial
decigions for the company, including, but not limited to,
dictating the commissions and other fees paid by ZEN to
themselves and the entities they controlled. Lee and DiRoberto
made an actual rubber stamp of Watson’s signature that they used
to continue to sign checks to themselves and their entities from
ZEN bank accounts.

41. Lee and DiRoberto also held themselves out as ZEN
directors or employees while soliciting investors and negotiating
contracts on behalf of ZEN.

42. Lee and the individuals working for Lee and DiRoberto
also made a myriad of materially false verbal statements when
soliciting investors to purchase ZEN stock. For example, in
telephone solicitations of investors, Lee claimed ZEN planned an
initial public offering of stock (“IPO") immediately following
the conclusion of the purported private placement and that he had
bought 50,000 shares of ZEN at $5 per share. Both of these

statements were materially false. When Lee made this statement,

12
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.

ZEN had not taken any steps to conduct an IPO. 1In fact, Lee
purchased his ZEN shares for $.0125 per share.

43 . The sales agents working for Lee and DiRoberto also made
materially false statements to investors regarding ZEN’s plans to
complete an IPO. Among other things, the sales agents falsely
claimed that: 2EN’s stock would split five to one following the
imminent IPO; and ZEN had funding commitments exceeding $25
million from venture capital firms and from well-known Hollywood
movie studios such as Paramount and USA Networks. In several
instances, Lee participated in the telephone solicitation of
investors and reaffirmed the false claims made by his agents.

44 . The ZEN offering documents materially misrepresented the
commigsions and other fees Lee and DiRoberto siphoned from the
offering proceeds. The description of use of proceeds contained
false and internally inconsistent percentages to be paid for
various offering expenses and misrepresented the true nature of
funds paid to entities controlled by Lee and DiRoberto.

45, The ZEN offering materials claimed that 68 percent of
the offering proceeds would be used to develop ZEN’'s web sites
and otherwise implement the company’s business plan. This
representation was materially false and misleading. ©Of the
approximately $5 million raised in the ZEN offering, Lee,
DiRoberto and their associates kept approximately $2.1 milliqn,
leaving ZEN with only approximately $2.9 million, or 58 percent

of the proceeds.

13
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46. The ZEN offering materials represented that 32 percent
of the proceeds would be used for the following offering
expenses: syndication, organization and offering cosﬁs (10
percent); due diligence and compliance (5 percent); purchase of
accounts (5 percent); and marketing fees (12 percent).

47, BEach of the offering expense categories in turn carried
footnotes with vague descriptions of the services included. The
ZEN offering materials represented that funds allocated to “due
diligence and compliance,” for example, were “reserved for all
matters of federal and state qualification and blue sky laws &
securities registration.” Similarly, the ZEN offering materials
claimed that marketing fees would be used to increase “the
general public’s awareness of ZEN's web sites.”

48. The ZEN offering materials were false and misleading
because the offering expenses kept by Lee and DiRcberto were used
for sales commissions and expenses, rather than the purportedly
legitimate offering expense categories described in the offering
materials. For example, Lee and DiRoberto did not register ZEN
securities with the Commission or any state as represented in the
due diligence and compliance category of offering expenses. The
ZEN offering materials were alsc false and misleading in that
individuals working for Lee and DiRoberto were paid commissions
only upon receipt of funds from ZEN investors and thus were not
paid for promoting the company’s products or increasing “tﬁe

general public’s awareness of ZEN’s web sites.”

14
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49. The ZEN offering materials further stated that of the 68
percent purportedly to be used to implement the company’'s
business plan, 30 percent would be used for “development
programming” to be completed by Advanced Web Technologies, Inc.

50. The ZEN offering documents were materially misleading
because they failed to disclose that Advanced Web Technologies
was co-owned by convicted felons Lee and DiRobertc. The ZEN
offering materials were also false and misleading because
Advanced Web Technologies performed no substantive programming
for ZEN, but instead served as a vehicle through which Lee and
DiRoberto received approximately $600,000 in ZEN offering
proceeds.

51. Lee and DiRoberto ordered Watson to pay Advanced Web
Technologies and other fictitious business entities controlled by
Lee and DiRoberto offering proceeds for computer programming and
consulting services that were exaggerated or were never
performed. Watson approved payments of ZEN proceeds to entities
centrolled by Lee and DiRoberto for services he knew were
misstated or were not performed.

52. ZEN Became Zandria, A Public Company, Through A
Transaction With A Public Shell Corporation

53. In approximately October 1999, DiRoberto authorized
attorney B. Roland Frasier, III to arrange a transaction whereby

a public shell corporation, Longhorn, Inc., acquired all of the

15
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assets of ZEN. The resulting public company then changed its
name to Zandria Corp.

54. In April 2000, Zandria began trading on the Over-The-
Counter Bulletin Board, (a quotation service operated by the
NASD). Zandria conducted daily operations through its wholly
owned subsidiary, LevelRed.com.

Lee and Dragon’s Formed Separate Telemarketing

Companies To Raise Additional Funds

55. In approximately January 2000, DiRoberto began serving a
five-year sentence in a federal corrections facility stemming
from a felony narcotics conviction in 1999. At or around that
time, DiRoberto sold his 50 percent interest in First Choice to
Lonnie Dragon.

56. In approximately May 2000, Lee and Dragon agreed to
divide First Choice and conduct the LevelRed Investments offering
through separate entities. Dragon formed and owned Technology
Ventures Group (“TVG”)}, while Lee began operating as Venture Tech
Funding Group (“VTFG”}, a fictitious business name for his
company, Web Design, Inc.

B. The LevelRed Investments Offering Fraud

Lee & Dragon Formed LevelRed Invesgtments and Drafted

Its Offering Materials

57. In approximately May 2000, Lee and Dragon sought to
raise more money for Zandria. Because Zandria was already a

public company, Lee and Dragon caused Frasier to form a new

16
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corporation, LevelRed Investments, Inc. so that Lee and Dragon
could raise additional funds through a purported private
placement of stock. The LevelRed Investments offering materials
represented that the company would invest 76 percent of the
offering proceeds in Zandria's subsidiary, LevelRed.com, Inc., in
exchange for an equity stake in Zandria.

58. Lee and Dragon installed Watson as LevelRed Investments’
sole officer and director.

59. Using the ZEN offering materials as a model, Lee and
Dragon drafted, reviewed and approved for dissemination to
investors and potential investors the LevelRed Investments
offering materials.

60. The LevelRed Investments offering materials fraudulently
listed Watson as LevelRed Investments’ sole officer and director.
Watson reviewed and approved for public dissemination the
LevelRed Investments offering materials that listed him as the
company’s sole officer and director.

Lee, Dragon & Watson Offered And Sold LevelRed

Investments Stock

61. Lee and Dragon offered and sold LevelRed Investments
stock through their respective telemarketing entities, VTFG and
TVG. The LevelRed Investments offering purported to be a private
placement of 2 million shares of stock at $2.50 per share.

62. Lee and Dragon paid themselves commissions based upon a

percentage of LevelRed Investments stock sold to investors. Lee

17
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and Dragon purchased lead lists of potential investors and cold-
called them to solicit them to buy LevelRed Investments stock.

63. Also, from approximately June 2000 through September
2000, Lee and DiRoberto hired a handful of sales agents to assist
them in offering and selling LevelRed Investments stock from
their respective VIFG and TVG offices. Lee and Dragon designed
and implemented a plan to sell LevelRed Investments stock in
which they provided their sales agents with lead lists, talking
points and offering materials. Lee and Dragon paid the agents
commissions based upon a percentage of funds received from
LevelRed Investments investors and the agents’ role in the sale.

64. Lee, Dragon and the sales agents that worked at their
direction used high-pressure sales tactics to sell LevelRed
Investments stock. When prospective investors expressed interest
in purchasing LevelRed Investments stock, Lee and Dragon caused
LevelRed Investments offering materials and other promotional
information to be mailed to them.

65. At the direction of Lee, Dragon and their respective
sales agents, LevelRed Investments investors sent their checks to
purchase LevelRed Investments stock directly to the company,
where Watson deposited the funds in LevelRed Investments bank

accounts.

18
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The LevelRed Investments Offering Was Not Registered

And Did Not Qualify for Any Exemption From Registration

66. Between June 2000 and September 2000, Lee and Dragon
sold $887,503 in LevelRed Investments stock to 27 investors in
numerous states. Lee, Dragon and Watson used the mails or other
interstate means to offer and sell LevelRed Investments stock.
None of these transactions were registered with the Commission.

67. The LevelRed Investments offering materials sent to

investors included audited financial statements for LevelRed

Investments. However, LevelRed Investments was essentially a

holding company with no assets or operations. The LevelRed
Investments offering materials failed to include any financial
information concerning Zandria Corp., its subsidiary
LevelRed.com, or any of the detailed financial information
typically found in a registration statement.

The LevelRed Investments Offering Was Fraudulent

68. The LevelRed Investments offering materials fraudulently
represented that 76 percent of the proceeds would be provided to
LevelRed.com to be used for the company’s operations, while the
remaining 24 percent would be used for the expenses relating to
the offering.

69. In total, of the $887,503 raised in the LevelRed
Investments offering, Lee, Dragon and the entities they

controlled pocketed $397,503, or approximately 45 percent of the

19
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proceeds, leaving only $490,000, or 55 percent of the proceeds
for LevelRed.com.

70. The LevelRed fnvestments offering materials also
fraudulently represented that the 24 percent used for offering
expenses comprised 20 percent for “advertising/consulting” and 4
percent for “marketing fees.”

71. LevelRed Investments entered into sham contracts for
“consulting” or “marketing” services with Lee’s entity, Web
Design, Inc., and Dragon’s entity, TVG. Pursuant to these
contracts, LevelRed Investments paid Lee and Dragon various fees
between June and September 2002 for purported investor relations
or consulting services that were exaggerated Oor were never
provided.

72. Despite knowing that Lee and Dragon misstated or failed
to provide investor relations or other consulting services,
Watson executed the sham agreements and made payments on behalf
of LevelRed Investments to Lee, Dragon and their respective
entities.

73. Lee and Dragon also made material verbal
misrepresentations to prospective LevelRed Investments investors.
For example, Dragon falsely claimed that Zandria’s web site
expenses were “paid for” by advertising revenues and fraudulently
claimed that Zandria would post annual revenues of $200,000 to
$500,000 by the end of 2000. Dragon had no reasonable basis to

make such claims and projections. In fact, at the end of 2000,
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zandria‘s annual expenses had exceeded $800,000, while its annual
revenues totaled just $41,800.
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
{(Violations by Lee, DiRoberto, Dragon and Watson
of Exchange Act § 10(b) and Rule 10b-5
f15 U.3.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]

74. Paragraphs 1 through 73 are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference.

75. Defendants Lee, DiRoberto, Dragon and Watson, with
gcienter, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities,
by the use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce
or of the mails, directly or indirectly: (a) employed devices,
schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of
material facts or omitted to state material facts necessary in
order to make the statements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (c)
engaged in acts, practices or courses of business which operated
or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of
securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

76 . By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Lee, DiRoberto,
Dragon and Watson violated, and unless restrained and enjoined
will violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5

thereunder.
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SECOND CLAIM FCR RELIEF
(Violations by Lee, DiRoberto, Dragon and Watson of Securities
Act § 17(a) (1)
[15 U.s.C. § 77q(a)(1)]

77. Paragraphs 1 through 73 are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference.

78. Defendants Lee, DiRoberto, Dragon and ﬁatson, with
scienter, in the offer or sale of securities, by the use of means
or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate
commerce, or by the use of the mails, directly or indirectly
employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud in violation of
Section 17(a) (1) of the Securities Act.

79. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Lee, DiRoberto,
Dragon and Watson violated, and unless restrained and enjoined

will violate Section 17(a) {1l) of the Securities Act.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Vioclations by Lee, DiRoberto, Draéon and Watson of Securities
Act § 17(a)(2) and (3}
[15 U.8.C. § 77g(a) (2) & (3)]
80. Paragraphs 1 through 73 are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference.
81. Defendants Lee, DiRoberto, Dragon and Watson, in the

offer or sale of securities, by the use of means or instruments

of transportation or communication in interstate commerce, or by
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the use of the mails, directly or indirectly (a) obtained money
or property by means of untrue statements of material facts or
omissions to state material facts necessary in order to make the
statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading, or (b) engaged in transactions,
practices or courses of business which operated or would operate
as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of securities in violation
of Section 17{a) (2) and (3) of the Securities Act.

82. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Lee, DiRcberto,
Dragon and Watson violated, and unless restrained and enjoined
will violate Section 17{(a) (2} and (3) of the Securities Act.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations By Lee, DiRoberto and Dragon Of Section 15(a) Of The
Exchange Act)
(15 U.S.C. § 780(a)]

83. Paragraphs 1 through 73 are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference.

84. Defendants Lee, DiRoberto and Dragon, while engaged in
the business of effecting transactions in securities for the
account of others or for their own accounts, have made use of the
mails or the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce to
effect transactions in, or to induce the purchase of, securities,
without being registered as brokers or dealers with the

Commisgion.
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85. Defendants Lee, DiRoberto and Dragon violated, and
unless restrained and enjoined, will violate Section 15(a) of the
Exchange Act.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations By Lee, DiRoberto and Watson Of Sections 5(a) And
5(c¢) Of The Securities Act as to ZEN
[15 U.s.C. §§ 77e(a) and (c)]

86. Paragraphs 1 through 73 are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference.

87. Defendants Lee, DiRoberto and Watson, directly and
indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of
transportation and communication in interstate commerce and of
the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or
medium of any prospectus or otherwise ZEN securities, without a
registration statement having been filed with the Commission as
to such securities in violation of Sections 5(a) and 5(c¢) of the
Securities Act.

88. No registration statements have been filed with the
Commission or are otherwise in effect with respect to the ZEN
stock offered by Lee, DiRoberto and Watson.

89. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Lee, DiRcberto
and Watson viclated and unless restrained and enjoined, will

violate Sections 5{a) and S({c) of the Securities Act.
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SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations By Lee, Dragon and Watson Of Sections 5(a) And 5({c)
Of The Securities Act as to LevelRed Investments
[15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and (c)]

90. Paragraphs 1 through 73 are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference.

91. Defendants Lee, Dragon and Watson, directly and
indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of
transportation and communication in interstate commerce and of
the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or
medium of any prospectus or otherwise LevelRed Investments
securities, without a registration statement having been filed
with the Commission as to such securities in violation of
Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act.

92. No registration statements have been filed with the
Commission or are otherwige in effect with respect to the
LevelRed Investments stock offered by Lee, Dragon and Watsomn.

93. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Lee, Dragon and
Watson violated, and unless restrained and enjoined, will violate

Sections 5{a) and S{c) of the Securities Act.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the

Court:
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Find that the Defendants, and each of them, committed the
violations alleged.

II.

Enter an Injunction, in a form consistent with Rule 65(d) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, permanently restraining and
enjoining each defendant, their subsidiaries, officers,
directors, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys-in-fact, and
all persons in active concert or participation with them, from
violating, directly or indirectly, the provisions of law and
rules alleged in this complaint.

III.

Order Defendants and their respective agents, servants,
employees and attorneys to account for and disgorge all ill-
gotten gains received or benefits in any form derived from the
illegal conduct alleged in this Complaint, together with pre-
judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law.

IV.

Order Defendants to pay third tier civil penalties pursuant
to Section 21(d) (3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u{d) (3)]
and Section 20{d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] in
an amount to be determined by the Court.

V.

Enter an Order barring Lee, DiRoberto and Dragon from

participating in aﬁ offering of penny stock pursuant to Section

20 of the Securities Act and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act.
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* . .
-

VI.

Enter an Order barring Lee, DiRoberto and Dragon from
serving as officers or directors of any publicly held company
pursuant to Section 20({e) of the Securities Act and Section

1(d) (2} of the Exchange Act and the Court’s equitable authority.
VII.
Grant such other relief as this Court may deem just or

appropriate.

Dated: October 1, 2003

Respectfully submitted,

[eludy Mh

ROBERT M. FUSFELD

ELIZABETH ESPINOSA KRUPA

THOMAS A. ZACCARO

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Securities and Exchange Commission
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